PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

fiem 14 - Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form [7-C

April 8 2021

& Confirmation of the Approval of Awdit Comnmuttes of the 2020 Audited Consohdated
Frmancial Statements of 1People, inc. and its Subsidianes.

+ Declaration of a Php 0.06 per common share cash dividend. or a total amount of Php
62.655,791.82 from the Company’s unrestnicted retained camings as of December 31, 2020,
10 all stockholders of record as of May 7, 2021. Payment date 1= on or before May 31, 2021,

& Approval of the 2020 Sustamability Report of 1People, mc.

+ Postponement of the Company’s Annual Stockholders' Mecting to Juby 30, 2021, mnstead of
June 25 2021,

# Approval of the date of Annual Stockholders Mectime.

+ Amendments to Sections 1. 6 to 13 of Article 111 of 1People, inc.’s By-Laws

May 14, 2021
o Approval of the 2020 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IAGCR ) of iPeople,
nc.

& Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Commttee of the First Quarter Consohdation Report
{SEC 170)) of 1Pcople, inc.

& Approval of the Company’s Material Related Party Transactions Policy. in complhance to
SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10 Senes of 2019,

May 27, 2021
+ Resagnation of Mr. Edeardo B Graw as Chief Risk Officer.

June 1. 2021
+ Appointment of Ms. Ruth C. Francisco as Chief Risk Officer.

July 38, 2021
Approval of Second Quarter Consolidatnon Report (SEC 170).

Approval of 2020 audited consohdated fmancial statements of 1People and its subsidianes.
Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2021-2022.

Re-appointment of SGV & Co. as external anditors for the fiscal vear ending 2022,

- & & &

Movember 12, 2021
& Approval of Third Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 17Q).
» Declarabion of a Php 0.23940325 per common share special cash dividend, for & total amount
of Php 250,000,000.00, to all steckholders of record as of November 29, 2021, and payable on

or before December 22, 2021.

Movember 17, 2021
+ Recept of SEC approval for the amendments to Sections 1. & to 13 of Article 111 of 1People.
inc.'s By-Laws which had been approved by the Board of Directors on Apnl 8, 2021

Janoary 31, 2022
#+ Resiznation of Mr. Renato C. Valencia as Chairman of iPeople, inc.

April 04, 2022

« Confirmation of the Approval of Audit Commattee of the 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements of 1People. inc. and its Subsihanes.

#» Declaration of a Cash Dividend of Php 0.16 per common share, or a tedal amount of Php

167082, 218.00 from the Company’s unrestncted retamed carmings as of December 31, 2021,
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to all steckholders of recond as of Apnl 20, 2022, Payment date 15 on or before May 20, 2022,
Approval of the 2021 Sustamability Report of 1iPeople, inc.

# Approval of the 2021 Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople.
Inc.

+ Approval of the Date of Annual Stockholders Mectine

May 17, 2022
+  Approval of First Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 170Q).

July 19, 2022

Approval of Second Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 170).

Approval of 2021 audited consolidated fnancial statements of 1People and 1ts subsidianes.
Election of the Board of Directors of the Company for 2022-2023,

Re-appomntment of SGV & Co. as external suditors for the fiscal vear ending 2023,
Amendments to Sections 1, 2. 4. 5 and 6 of Artiche 1. Sections 2.3, 5, 7.8, 9 and 10 of

Avrticle I, Sections 11 and 12 of Article 1L Section 2 of Article TV, Sections | io 8 of Arcle
V. and Section | of Article X of the iPeople. me.'s By-Laws

December 2, 2022
& Approval of Third Quarter Consolidation Report (SEC 170).
« Approval of the Merger of 1People subsidianes, National Teachers College (NTC) and
Atfordable Pnvate Education Center { APEC) Schools with NTC as the surviving entity
# Chanze in 1People’s corporate address from the 3rd Floor Grepalife Bullding, 219 Sen. Gil
Puvat Ave., Makan City 1200, Metro Manla, Phabppines to the 3th Floor Mapua University

Makati Campus, 1191 Pablo Ocampo Sr. Extension Ave., Brey. Sta Cruz, Makat City 12035,
Metro Manilz, Philippines

Fehroary Mb, 2023

# Collaboration between MAPUA Schools amd Anrona State Unsverssty to  introduce
breakthroush offermg in expenential slobal education.

March 31, 2023
# Approval of the 2022 Andited Consolidated Fmanceal Statements of 1People. mc. and 1ts
Subsidianes.
# Declamation of a Cash Drvidend of Php 0.19 per common share. or a total amount of
Php 08 410.015.98 from the Company’s unrestncted retained earmings as of December 31,

2022, to all stockholders of record as of Apnl 25, 2023, Payment date 15 on or before May 19,
20235,

& Approval of the 2022 Sustamability Report of 1People, inc.

* Jlﬂq.'q:-rmﬁl of the 2022 Intezrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (IACGR) of iPeople.
Ine.

# Approval of the Date of the 2023 Annual Stockholders Mecting
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Chpelmin

Wi have awlised the conaolidated Moancia] stadements of iPeople, inc. end fs sub<idmres the Groap), v hcicy
poiprss e cunsollidabod statsmigibs of Inzocinl posstion ns ol Deoendber 31, 2022 and 2021, o the cossalsdmid
snlenerms ol crnprefensve s, corsobidaled siniemenis of changes in egmity and aonsolidmed sieiemenes ol
cash Movws For each of the three years in ke peniad ended December 31, 2022, and nobes 10 the sonsolichigsd
fingncial dutliments inchilEg o snmmuory ol significont acconntimg, policies.

In ouir ogingm, the Bocoimgan y comsishilnigd fimmeinl smemenis presoni Tnivky, @ oall maleriol respects the
opmolidabed Fnondiald position of the roup os ai Devember 31, 2022 amd 2021, ool fs comsotidaled finsncial
perludimnnes and 18 consolidaled cash Mows for coch ol The thaee years bn e paeriod e Deceoher 11, 2002 in
acepidnnee with Philigpes Financial Beponiing Stendseds {FFRS,

Hisix for Chpinbon

W comducioc our auchig o seecadimee wath Philippu Stamlardzan Soditng (P54 O respossibil e onder
i stapudands nre Tariher descnibed o the dasbiioe s Mpspansihilivies for the A o the Cronsidlobnie Fimamiol
Suntevmgas section of tur repon, W ate mdependent of the Ciroug in aceondnnee with ihe Code of Ethics for
Privfesstmml Acoounsnnis imthe Philippires fthe Code of Fibes) iogedlier with the sthisal nogmircaicibs ted aie
rehevan bo o audil of the consolicksed fimmpcial statements e Peilippincs, and we hove flillled our other
ethical responsibilities in sccordimee with these requirenssis and te Code ol Erthice. We befieve that the aadit
wlilienee wi e obiokned s salTesen amd wqriu.u:-m piovids x hasis for our opimain

ey Andkt Maliers

Ky winidan pnstners are thasa mmness thal, i eur prodessional judpmeni, were of mns agnifzorce m oor oudit of the
s nlicated finarcisl skxtements of the current period. These mmbers wene addndised im0 cosses) ol one audi 5]
the comsabidated financial sialgments as o whale: and in Nemming sar apimiee hedreain s we do not provide
fipaiae apEnicn o s sealbers. For gach asiiar behow, ous deseriptien OF oo cor suibn oddressed the maber =
pinovadled B thatl eoniex.

Wi have Rullitied ihe negonshilities describod m ol Asafbine v Rexponsdfiifita for fe Aol i e Dimasaaldired
Firearefod Seaneweerrts section of v nepor, mcluding in eelabion G these e, Aceenlinghy, our avlit ing baded
ihe peslmnsnce af procedienes designed W pspond fo i asseasmenl of the risks al malersl e datemeit of ke
coneolidwied fimrcial soicmemts. The resdis of owr mdil procedures, including the prisedises perdfonned
adkdresa flie instleee belew, provele the badis For o oud il epialon o the socompanying cansalidated hnancial
alnlemenia,
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Valomier af Laml

The Coronips pepounis for s lmd, wheee i schoe] buibdngs mnd other Factlities ar loeansd, usng the evalimlan
mulel A ar December 31, 2022, the cermving value ol the Group's land amesmied o

FLATEA million, repeeseninsg d&%-ﬂ{ﬂnl’j‘rﬂup's Iotal agsets, The determianmiian of the e valees of e
projetivs mvalvis signi i nuaegemmil judzmen and eslimmions The valoticn sl monires e ausstmos of
exbernal sppenizers whose caboulsisnne litvalve certain assnpioas, gach ad sales price of gindlor propertes god
adjustments Lo snlex price based on imtemnl osd extemnl faciors, Ths, we comstdered the volaagion of nnd 2 » key
andil mativr.

Bezfer o Motee 5 anel | 1o dhe coisolidated financlal sisieiesms for ihe dischosurey on [nnd ot revalued moannt.

Arweli respeuree

W reviewed the seope, hases, methadology and resulia of the work dane by the Group®s exterml appraisers whaose
professional gelificalmns, conprence. capabilites, ml objgetivity were also takei il sonsdoration. Ws
vonspanced lhe relevant msrmitios supporting the sbes price of sinular properties ol the sdgustments made w ihe
snles prive agdingl real et ndusry dam, We sl reviowed the Group's diselosenes with respect w the Tiir valug
i the lund.

Recaverahilily qf:‘l':rﬁy'fﬂmfﬂ.twm

Llikes PR R, th: Divousp is fegmired Lo anmsdly deal For dnspairiienl geodwall asad noaifinainciul sssets with indefinize
il [ sl forvhoss soelinansinl assets witk Gnbe ueefisl ke, A there are indscavms of impairment. The Groap
hine goohwill aorilinahle g e scguisinon of Malayan Educolmm Sy, ne. wmoaming o #0578 milljios,

st lbectunl propety rights with smbefinine Eife smeamimg o B490.9 million, and prapesy aml suigaent sl aight-
of-usme 2l ol n subsuliory agzregating o P4 160 millson ox of December 18, 2022 that wirs tisted lor inspadtieir,
Theze nonfinanciol asseis are cossidered significant 1o the consalsdmied financinl ststements. Inaddition,

v O s ] o b oleis udgments mnd b B onoassimpions which ore sihject tocligher level
if estimation imocrtainty dies b the Garmest economic comditioes which lave beon sipacied by rhe arei s
pandermic. The assumplons uséd in estimating the discoanied cash flow projeciioie mclods Fnicnssed revemis,
[ong-tenn greseth e, poyalty mics, and discomm migs

The Giraup's disclosunes abotd nonfinarcw] asses ore inchaded in Moves 506, 10, 13 and 51 1 the conslidaad
financinl sioteimenis

Areci® resparis

W myalved ear idornal gpacialis inemlimting e methocklopy and ssmpions tked. We oldained on

vl erstarding of the Lirnup s impxiimment model and ilic assamplions oo ihe ey business dnvees of the cish Tw
forecnss such a5 ihe reversa fram nunher of forecasied gudents and refmed taition oed ol moiricidsion fees,
We ghecked if the Group hes considered e ingpao of the coronavirus pamdemse on These kiy assaiivgnibons asd sl
coinpnred them againer histonsal performange, We dompared the loegerm: grawih abes and rovally mles agdins
pehewi paabileshed marker mfoimation, We bl lestel the jummsters weed inofhe deterinination of discount ribes
apnbnst marked dwin, Tn ackiiclon, we reviewed thi Groap's dselogures ahout those nesumgrians b which the
eratoein of Uhie injainsenl s=is 8 mosl sensitive, that 15, thees that hevs g mosd ssgnilicant effect on the
determinmtian of the nedovembr b amound of hese asoels:
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Adegmacy af Alweance five Expegted Credls Lacs fECE)

The Citep applice simplifisd appeosch in coboalotmy expecied credit boss {ECLL Umider this apprisch, the Group
wonoial |y estnblishes a provision mairix that is besed om ics hisicrics] credii boss experience and adjusted bar
Frveard -lnoking Fecanrs specific mo ke debiors end the sconamic enviramment, Allowenes for ECL and the
proviseon for ECL on reosivabbes frons tustion pod oifser fecs by of aed for o vear ended Dpcemher 31 30122
asnoamied de PEIT62 nullion and P1204 10 mdlion, !'l,'.!:[:::l:ll.l'l;i-l':',

The Geeap's caleulstion of allowanee for BOL 8 sipmificant fo cor ssdit s imeolves (e eagrelsp ol slgmificmt
mareigamenl judgnsen, Key anas ol jwdgment melude segmenimg the Group’s oredsl sk expasiness delimmg
detnl, deterinl g assimptions o be usad inthe ECL medel such as the expected il o the Gnaocial assot amd
liming md amoent ol expocied met recovenes from defmmled aceoamis; and incorpomating foreard-loskmg
imfvanabon {called n-rl:l:lu:rxi, inclhuding the impact of the cormnavirns pardemsc, in calculating ECL

The dachosumes on e sllovance for ECL ere incledad in Roles 5 and & o the conscoliglnled fmmscinl stvemants,
Aulir reginsy

Wig upited o wnderstienliog of the approved neethodalogy and assumplions wsnl Rar tie G daiTertnl cheda
capiaines id reasseseed whether these coniidersd the rogiatremeits of FFRS 9 1o reflect an unhised sml
probababty-weighled outcome ond 1be ben pouiinble Towant-looking mformarioo,

W da b nesdse fhe Cisveap s seprmiestalion of 8 crdda risk oxposunzy Based o honsapeneiny of erelit visk
chamefensiecs; | k) compared e defininon of defoull against sioncal anabyses of oconunts and credid risk
managemenl palivies and prctices m pleces {of tesled hisoricnl o mies by inspecting hstorsenl meovenies and
wrle-alTe [} eerifind (b appropoabeness of classifbion of o dansding cxposins o ihels comespoidsng nping
ukeis; omd (e} evaiunied che forsard-leoking infrmation ased for overliy througlhs sintistioa] s and
cedmuharntaon ming peblely aviilabbe mfometion snd sor understanding of the Cirgug's tegeivible ponfalos minl
industey practices, g badling the nepec ol ihe coromivmis pamlenic.

Fusrtlir, we checked the dats used wmoibe EUL mwndels, sl os the histarical npgang asalyels of defaiiles mod rweovery
alstn, b reconciling detn frons seence sysbem roponts bo the datsbese s froe e Gatshise 1o the boss allowance
asgrlysismiodlels anel firarcin] reporting sysens To e exicet te e loms sllowasoe npalysks is hased on credhl
enpisines tha hove been dissguregsied inm subseis with sknilor risk chamoieristics. we tmced or re-porfirmed dhe
iisgpropatmn fivem source fepars e the loss illowamee analyxis

W reculowdied the umpaimesnt provesions, We clecked the diselesures ke inthe financad statements on
dilumiamoe fior ECL by iating such diszlosunes fo the ECL onalysis prepoared &y mamagsanenil

THbir ImFornaasisn

linagemenl is mesponsible for the cther inlformaiaon. The cther inlommstion comaprides e b icladad 5
the SELC Foam 2015 (Defnitive [nforpadion Sicmetl, SEC Form 17-A and Anmial Bepon for the vear ended
Creceenber 31, 2622, bai cloes st inclsds 1he corsmdidnled financiol sintenrems and our nelitor’s repor thereon. The
SO0 Farm 2015 {TDhefinitive Infonanian Staementy S5C Fonn | 75 and Anousl Eepari. T the year ended
Diecemiber 11, 2022 are expecled s be mmle availahle 1o us afler e date ol Dhis i s repod,
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i cqrindion an the eonsolklssd financial sslewseasix does ol cower the olber niformarion aml swe will ol expnns
ary oo of assursnce conclusion ibereon,

Ly commectiog with our sadits of the consolilsied Gnancial sialemenis, our pespemsshility 12w repd e oler
infommuiwm identified above when it becoenes avaklable aned, i dvdng 0, considor whedher the other infonmation i@
niakriadly dneoem st with ithe consalicased francial sasemenis or our koo ledge chinised in the sk or
otberwise appears to be maleriably misstnad,

Hespumsibilitics of Management and Those Charged with Gevermnnce for the Consolidated Financisl
Slalpments

Managmment is nespansible G the prepamison amd frir presentation of 1he consofidited fmancial sawmems m
scvorcdanee with FFRSS amd for sovh imemal cortrol as manigement deteiniog 8 nedessary o drhle e
preparstion nf corsndidaled finnneinl siatamenis tha gre fee from malenal missatemenl, whelberdoe do ol or
LT

I prepasieng the consalideted financial stiemesds, mamapemenl B responsible for sssessing the Group’s abalisy 1o
continge as & going conceny, disclosing, s applicable, mmters refated (o going coscam and asing U gomip comcem
bviai ] auouming wmless waiagerment cather inloimds b ligquidbts the Girep of o estss aperstions, o Bas no
pealsati nlbermative i o du sa

Thede charged sl povermance aig msposible R caodrasirg (he Diiou’s fuanciol sepoaiieg process
Amilitnr's Respoansibilities for the Aadit of the Conenlidated Financial Stagenacis

Chir eihjectives are to obeain ressoaable nssprance abou whesher the comeolidated financial stataents as a whels ane
free from eamerial missacement, whether due. o fraesd or error, ond 1o o o asdivor’s report thal B ludies: ;e
N, Reszeamhie pssaranee i a iigh bevel of easemance, bu 5 0ot o guamniee that on audil conducted m
mrcorlance with PSAs will always detect i nmuasenisl inissiolenrent when i exisiz Wimscibement: can arise from
Franl oo eerpr and wre considened matermb i, mdividuzlly or in ihe opgregate, they could rensorlsly b eapectad 10
i Tieies e aconmmic deeizicns of peers mken on the bass of these consalidsisd financial stsemenis,

As port of an aadit in secordance wilh PR A, we exercise professionad judgma and aalmale profssional
hrpbiciam lroigboil the anfit W dlio

s Jdeonify and pxsese the nisks of matenal massatement of the consolidarad financial siatermenis. whether due o
T g oo desapn asd perform sadit procedusés responsae [ ihoee ricks, end obitain audig evedence that s
eulfiicis mnl apprapriace e provide o basis foroer opinion. The ngk of oot detecing & maloool msststonen|
resnlting from frand 1 higher than {oe one resulting from emor, o (mid may invalve collisgi, fomgeny,
imbestticninl cnilsssons, inisreproseniationg, or the override of istenmal conrl,

s Obtapn win understancing of ermal cosarol redevant t the asdi in arder 1o design audit procedures that ane
nppropeiste 16 the Circumstances, b ned For Phe purpsosg of espressiig an ssmion o ihe effectivencss of the
Ciroup’s imemal eotral

& Fvaluse e apgiopenteesss of accoumiag pollees used anil the reasonohleres of sosounging estimines and
mefuied disclosures made by macagement.
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Coclude on the sppruprismensss of management's e of the poing coneem hisis of acssmiing asl, Basad om
the midi evidence olstaimad, wihwither n mzeriol sncstaanty exisis refored 1o evenis o conditions (bt may cos
significant doubt on the Giroup's ahility 1o coftinue ax a going concern. 17 we conchile that 2 material
mneenainty exixls, we ane regnired o drmw amsnian oo aidiae’s pon 6 selated disclosines i the
o] [ ikl stlements or, §iF swch disclosures ane nedequaie; o md iy our opigions Our conclesicns
ure based on the sudit evidenee abigined vp 6 the date o owr aisdilor’s reporl. Hoveever, firlime everis or
condddipme may caoss the Giroun 1o cease b oontimes 05 & gokng conem,

o l‘._l'hlml.-:- the overall presentation, structure and content of the comsedidated Tinancial snenvess, inclling (ke
iiiscboseres, gl whether e consodidbed Gnnncial siatements repressm the underlving imnsoctions and evenis
im0 mamnner that achieves fir preseminiion, '

*  Obtain sufficiest appropriaie audit evidence regandivg the financial information of the entites ar basines
netivitics wellsan Ui Oboip 10 eapress an opinien on the consalisated fivmscial sasements. Wi are responsilbis
For the dlirecisom. superysion and perfomnance of the asulit. W remnin sodoly responthli Tor var saudil opimion,

We conunuficute with ghose chasged with govemance reganting. aming otbes matiers, the plenned soope end aming
af i annli amid spnificont asdit Gndings, metuding any significe deficsnees moinbernal conimol = we identify
churing e sandin,

Wiz ko provide these charged witl govemance with o statenvent thal we havo complicd with rehesung ethicul
redquaAremeids reganding smdependerce. and 10 communicete with ihem afl relptionships and ocher mamers bl fay
reasonably be thonghd to bear an our indepenifience, and where applicible, relnied sifepuands,

Fram the matters commumicated with those charged wal governanee, we dusmin these mamers tha wees of moss
sapnaficanue inthe mudit of b comsadilated fnoncinl smicments of e cumrent perind asd are thereliee e ey mndi
inalire W discribe thuse aaiters in our pudgors sepan undess b ar rogulanion prechinles public disclozare aboul
e mwwder ar when, (nexivenielly rn: cinoesmstances, we deternaine: that i masier should noe be copsmimicsicd m o
repuil hocamse the adverse ponsegquentes of doing soowould resonobly be expecied so oiweigh the puldic imeres)
benedins of such commumication.

The cigap=ment parier oot aimlit resulting in this mdependent suditer's repon is Ana Lea . Hergniln

EVCIP GORRES VLAY O & D

Ous boa O Basgas

A Lea O, Bergacn
s
A Conilcaie Mo, BET0
Tax ldentificabnn Mo, H24HI-&T
BOATRS Heg. boo, 001, Aagest 25, 202, valid ungil apeil 15; 2024
SEC Pariner Accreditation Mo B4 TRSEC (Group )

Walitheo cover auwdil of 2021 10 2025 finascia] smtements o SEC covered instingines
BEC Firm Acereditation Na, 0 -SEC {Gromp A

Walul o covure nudai o 206 ] w TS Apacasl sitements oESEC covered imiiufions
HIR Accrediiniion Wa, D800I -D63-2000, Moavember 27, 2000, valid aniil Savember 36H, 225
T M, HIGOTEE, Jnmary 5, 2021 Wakari Ciry
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) iPEOPLE

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIRILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The manngemend of iPeople, inc. & Subsidinries is responsible for the prepasation and fair presentation
of the fimancisl statements including ihe schedides attsched therein, for the venrs ended December 31, 2022,
21 and 2020, in weeordance with the prescribed finnncial reporting framewirk indicatid tharein, and for
such incornal comlrol e mamgement determines 8 necessary 10 enable the preparstion of finenclal
stibemends that are free from material missiatement, whather due bo fraud o erron.

I preparing the financial salements, management i responsible for sssessing the Company's abilily 1o
contimie: a5 8 going conoem, dischasing, = applicable maners related o going concem amd wsing the going
coneern hasic of acoounting wnless management either inlends 1o Lijuidale the Company or 1o comse
opermlions, of has oo roalistic aliermaiive bul o doe o

The Board of Dinectors is responsible far overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Tl Bosend of Directors. reviews and spproves the financial statements including the schedules attached
thenci, and submils the stme to 1he stockboldens or members.

SyCip, Garres, Melayo & Co., the independent auditor appoinisd by the swockbobders, has audised the
finapcial statements of the company m accordance with Philippine Standards o Auditing, snd in its repuan
o the stockholders or members, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of preseatution upxin completion

il such audit,

ALFREDO ANTONIO L AYALA

TPresident aml 1’_‘hir.*l1;::|

LEVP Hﬁphm' Finusce Officer

APR 17 2023

Klghied this alery o Aprid, 2023
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iIPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{Amounts in Thousands)

Fecembir 1]
a0z b1 |
ASSETS
Current Asseis
Clesh snd cash equivalents (Notes 7, 15 and 300 F1,9%1,428 ] 604,129
Receivables {Wotes £ and 20) 1,176,228 1,032,851
Receivables from related pamties (Nodes 15 and 30) 1.B2S 2077
Prepaid oxpenses and other gurment mxsets (Wode 9) 464,937 91,021
Finnncinl assets ot foir value through profit or loss (FYTPL)
[ Meste 341 9,332 9213
Tatal Current Assets 3613750 LR e
Moncurrent Assces
Property and equipment ot cosl (Note 1) 5,208 550 407008
Lund at revalued amounts (Notes 10 and 1) TETRAILZ G400 K45
Intellectual propery rights (Note 6) SHLER2 323.1m
Croodwill {Notos 6 and 12 151326 151,326
Student relationzhip [ Mole /) 10,7549 43 76l
Right-of=use pssets (Note 31) A76,7T94 R
Mol pension assets {Mode 257 38, TN 18,1340
Dreferred fox nsseds = el (Mol 233 37,524 LA RE.
Crher noncument assets | Mote 13] 104,754 134T
Timal Noncurrent Aggets 14.087,742 13,065,353
P17,701.4492 P16, 128,604
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (Notes 14 and 30) B1,099.637 BL036.1 19
Shari-temm loans {Motes 16 and 30) - S, 0060
Unegariied income {Mole 14) T, I o4 658 ARG
lgame linhilitics - cumen portion | Moie 31) S1,0H5 50,550
Current portion of fong-derm debt {&Note 17) 1,521,448 21,0000
[neome x pavible 5215 2157
Payubles to related parties (Notes 15 and 309 16,797 I4,135
Dividends pavahle {Notes 18 and 30) 26,154 S63
Total Corrent Linbilites 3516430 2 B2 16
Moncurrent Liabilies
el pension lablires {(Note 25) 122,811 124,152
Lomg-term leans {Mote | 7) 334,568 1851045
Lapse lmbilities - net of curvent portion (Mote 31) 3TR,630 IN72Th
Dieferred fax linhilitics - met (Mote 230 500,311 4RO | 68
Diher noncunent linbilities (Note a1} 11,544 10683
Vaatsil Moncurrent Linbilitics 1444, Hed e EL L
Total Linbilities 4.961,294 5,0 B4
i Forward)



December 31

2022 2021
Equity
Common stock (Motes and 18} 1044263 #1044, 263
Additional paid-in capital (Now 6) 1294, 368 1,204 168
Cither comprehensive income (loss):
Revaluation increment on land - met (Note 113 2,603,154 [.633,.847
Remeasurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plans
(Mote 25) 11.099 (15,033)
Equity reserve (Mote @) 1230,494) (230,494)
Retained eamnings {Note |1B) 5.719.050 5,142,420
Equity attributable 10 equity holders of the Parent Company 12,441,445 1086937
Non-conbrolling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (Note 27) 298,753 250432
Total Equity 12,740,198 1,114,803
BIT. 70N 4492 Pl6, 126,64

St acrnmpeaniig Neden fo Comsalfaoted Pl Sleeienty



iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

{Amounis in Thousands)

Yoears Enced Decomber 31

2022 213 | 20121l
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
{Marde [4]
Bevenue from schooks and pelstisd operations ARCIREL] P3. 351,067 13,00 7, 1t
COSTS AND EXPENSES
it of schools and rebated opertions { Motz 200 {2.259,172) (1,904,857 (2,00 5,408}
GROSS FROFIT 1645774 1A360ARK 1000
GEMERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (Mote 21 (H01.00 1) (719,501 {6AS T
INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCE CHARGES (Mate 22) (113291 {121.435) (L3R 534}
INTEREST INCOME {Nole 22§ 20, [0S 192 [k T
(O THER INCOME {CHARGES) - M (Mate 11) 45, 3Rl 3670 4,113
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAM Thh by i34 TTa00
BENEFIT FROM (FROVISION FOR) INCOME TAX [Note 11 5. 148 ]”J_"_ﬁ 132E18)
NET INCOME TH2 N2 (w13, THS 30T
OTHER COMPEREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Ll compprelematve oo (i e i Be rectassified fo profin or
fern g e esginend prefoaly
Fevalusion Eerermen on Land - nes of g (Noie 11) (R M07E AQE il
Bemeasurement guins [loses) ondefired benefit plons - pet off
ki {Mode 25h i, W0 LT 135,304
Beversal of deferred tax Tiability on revaluation increment of
lond sold throvgh snle of subsidinry - net of tax (MNate 1) = - (R R
Hawcrsal of doferned tax lability on revalustion increment duse 1
change in fax mle - 7.7 =
1,030,960 b b 501,785
TOTAL COMPRENENSIVE INCOME PR HLLDGE P 455 BE2 458
Miew incontee sttrshotable e
Egqany hokilers of the parcni (Mote 26§ PT6EY.202 PEDJ0E P45 KI R
Mar-controlling interest in consol idued subsidianes (Nabe 27) 12 5l il (3.0l
P‘-‘HH L1 PhG 3, TEY P2 1T
Total compeshensive income attribsable 1o;
Expurty herlders of the et FI.T04. 746 K B CEARRH S
Now-gontrotling inferest in consobidated subsidinries (Note 27) 48,332 1154 6475
LSRRI ] [ L FHJ-"EJ.”I
Basde! il wted l:'..l.l'rIEIIEI! Fer Share (Mote 36) P, T36T 103,41 |F: 2554

S acernynmying Vofes do Consolickeed Fimanrie Stafements,
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iPEOPLE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{Amounis in Thousands)

Vears Ended Decembier 31

22 2021 2024
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax PT76.954 POA3. 414 P74 992
Adjustments o
Diepreciation and amontzalion
(Maote 21 475,307 456,685 63422
Interest expense and sther inance chirges
(Maoke 22) 115,606 141,944 | TH.294
Provision for doubtiul sccounts [Medes B and 213 120,408 114,229 48,755
Interest Income (Note 22 (20, 105) (6,192) { 10,597
Unreafized foreign exchange loss (gain) - net L] (A5 [ 1,530
Unrealized market gain on Ninancial assets at
FVTPL (119 453 (355}
Reversal ol impairment on lind (Mde 1) = LIS, Tal) [5.238)
Ciperating income before working capital chanpes TR 1,323,364 g4y, 143
Decrense (increase)
Reccivables (263,704) (110,641 {95.364)
Prepaid expenses and otheér current asscis (73.916) (1204167 (P4.050)
Increase {decresse) in:
Accounts payable and other cumment lisbilities 63,520 {100,017y (38,029)
Unegarmed income 137,775 {22.189) {100 28)
Other noncurrent [Habilities {20.074) 10,713 (2,291}
Mt persinn assets nnd liabilitics BE16 54 40744
Met cash genemted froum operations 1LAZ21.165 SR Ta( 637421
Inferest paid {113,293 (1374140 {1345 904
Ineoame txes paid (380} (567 {41,025
Inilerest received 2,023 i1, 015 10,734
Mt cash Nows Troan opermiing activities 1,227,515 i it ) dh7, 223
CASH FLEOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Agipursitions of
Froperty and equipment (Notes 10 and 269 (27LR5T) (183,735) (ER1RET
Computer sofware (MNole |1 3) [EREE (15,479 i 18400
Proceeds from dispozal ol
Land ihrough sale of subsidiary (Moge 11) - 1.7 54,800
Decrease (inceease) i
Revieivabiles from reluted parties 24,252 (28} 125,445)
Olther sondurrent hysets A8.671 5,284 1510
Met cash Mows from (used in) investing activilies [214,328) {193.958) k47,447

{Fewvard)




Years Ended December 31

222 LR | 200

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Payments of short-term lonns (Notes 16 and 29) {400, D) (B3T3, 00001 (P1,254,330)
Proceeds from short-term logns {Motes 16 and 29) - RIEHENTY] 10,530
Pasament of lense lisbilitics (Mo 31) (0BT} (67, 196) {8, 820}
Dividends paid to stockholdess {Nole 299 {167.083) (3LL656) [73,248)
Increase (decrease) i payables to related parics

(Mot 271 2662 15.345) 14,078
Payments of long-term loans {Note 29) (21.001) = =
Met cash Mows used in [imancing aciivitiey {655, 249) (170,197) (115104}
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

O CASH AND CASH El}l'l"’ﬁ'&i}?ﬂ's {630y i 1,830
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 357,299 285,127 | (vl 50
CASH AND CASI EQUIVALENTS AT

BEGINMING OF YEAR 160,129 1.3 19,003 1,154, 31y
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR (Notes 7 el 0 P1.961,428 Pl 60d, 129 BI319,mi2

e g eomipnyisng Novex o Comselistaed Finomedo! Statementy,



IPEQPLE, INC. AND SUBSITMARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I Corporate Infarmation

iPoople. . (the Parent Company ) i a publicly-listed stock corporation regldiered amd incorparated
on July 27, 1989 wnder the lnws of the Philippanes.

The Parent Company, o subsidiary of House of Investmenrs, Inc. (HI), is a holding and managemen
company,  iPeophe, e, and its subsidiaries (collectively relermed 1o as “the Group™} are malnly
irvardved in education seekor with the Bist of sobsidiaries disclosed in Moie 2

The Graup iz a member of the Yuchengeo Group of Companies (Y GC). The Growsp's ultimats parest
e Pun Malayan Management and ovestment. Corporation { PRMMIC),

The Paremt Counpany’s principal office address is at 3% Floor, Grepulifi Buildng, 21% Sen. Gil 1.
Puwal Aveemie, Maball Cily ool December 31, 2022 I 2023, the Paseal Campmry changed its
megisbered oflice sddieas ag disclosad in Mobe 12

Meriger with AL Education. Ing. _

With the effectivity of the merger om May 2, 2009 hetween iPeople, ine. and AC Educstion, Inc,
LAET, the whully owned education arm of Avala Carporation {AC), iPeople. inc. became 28 | 8%
owned by HE and 33.5% owned by AC. Details of the merger is disclossd in Node §.

1. Basis of Preparation

Tha consalidazed Hnareial statements of e Group have been prepaned under the histerical vost basis,
encepl for the fand which s under revaluation model and financinl nssets ot fir valss throuph profi
or boss (FVTPLY. The consolidated financial statements ase presented in Phalippiie Peso (P], which i
the Favent Company's functional cusrency. Excepl as otherwise indieated, all amounts are rounsded
ot e nearest thousonds,

Statcment of Complismcs
The consolidated financaal stalements have been prepared in complinnee with Philippine Finsncial
Beporiing Stoadards (PFRSs].

[LHET it

The wonsvlidated fnancial stalerients comprise the fnancial statements of the Group as at
Cecember 31, 2022 and 2028, and for eaclyof the three vedrs in the period ended December 31, 2022,
2021 amd 2020,

The consolidstes] Anoneisl sasements ane prepared Tor the saome reporting yeor as the Panen

Company, using consisbent accounting policies. . All significant intercompany balances amd
irmmspehions, melwding ineone, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full.



Helow are the Group's substdianes and percenage of ownership:

2ud 202l
Pllaynm: Educarin Svasem, g (MESEH [Operateg Uafer ihe Mame of
Abapua Univencry | smal subsidisries T Bt I
Tt grmmiership ol MIZSL on i subsidires
Ml Cnlleged Lagm, Iniw., & Slaped Schal (84ELij 1ne 1 N
Mfalmyan Colleges Misdiomn (A Mapua Seboed), Tne. (0M 1 jn 1 1]
Adalaxan High Scbost o Scienee, bae, IMHESI 160 (L] L]
Mapns lifosisation Technology Center, lne, [MITU) 1 14K ([T
Mo Techsey, liw, 145 16K (L1}
ktapun Techpower, lic T T 75
Poojilc eSeree Cacporsion (L] lo LCH]
Pan Pacific Copuler Cimor, Inoompeastel (PPOCT fiil i) [a
Affurdable Privete Edhesataon Center. i luing Besdiiss wnider the nmne of
AFEL Schaok rin .1 10
Mubivul Tesi:lvers Cillrge diing s, wmder the pome’s
anil styles of The Motiomal Teachers Callego 59,79 T T
Llnmversity of Mawvd Ceercd 1Al K141 KL&]
AL Enlliegd of Ererpnso anil Teshnalogy, Inc (T 1] [}
LIME st itite, bes, aboimeg business uider the Mame
ol Syl off LIMG &by 14l (] L

All subsidiones were incorposaied in the Philippines.

Suhsidinries are entities over which the Parent Compary has control, Control i schicved when the
Parent Compuny is exposed, or has rights [0 varioble reams T ts mvolement with s |nvestoe
end has the shility 10 afeet those retuns through it power sver the investee Specifically, the Parent
Lrmspany controds an investee if ond only if ihie Paremt Conypany hos:

*  power aver the mvestee (Le. existing nehis that give it the cuneent ability 1o direct the relevant
SIS of Elee mveshes);

" expostie, of fights, 10 vanable returns from s involvemnent with the myvesies: and

w  ghe ability 1o u=e its power over i dvestee b affect its retms,

When the Parent Comparry bas less thai o majority of the voling or simlar cghts of an investes. the
Parent Comgany congiders all refevant acts amd circumstances in assessing whether il has power over
an inveshes, inclugding:

*  the contraciual armagement with the olther vate holdens of the investos
#  rnghts arsing from other conirmetusl nrangements; and
*  the Parent Company s voting nighis and poteitinl voting rights,

Aubgridianes are [ully comsolideied o tie dole of ncouisison, being the date on which the Gromp
obdaing ool aid condimee to e consoludated until the dage when sich control ecases

A change in the overship nsterest of & subsidiary, withowl o loss of eantrol, is sccounted For ax an
equity trmmsactiod. 11 the Giroup leses comtred over o subsadiney, it

*  derevopgnires the assers (including goodwill) aod linbilities of the subsidiary:

recagnizes the Gir valoe of the consigleration recomvisl;

revognizes the (alr value aof any invesimend retained:

recogiizes any surphis or delicet in profit or less; and

reclassifies the Ciroup®s share of componenis previously recagnived in other comprehengive
i (OCT) to profit or loss of netained enmings, as approprinle,



=

Nea-contralling imenst reprisents interest in a subsidiary which is noi owned, directly or indirectly,
by Lhe Parcnt Campany and are presented separtely in the consolidaled statement of comprehensive
incame and within equity i the consolidated statement of financinl position, separately from the
Ciroup’s sharcholders equity. Tramsactions with non-controlling interests are handled in the same way
fi Lrniwacteods with external partles,

Chonges In Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopicd sre consistent with those of the previous Riancial vear, except for
the adoption of pew standards effective a5 an January 1, 2122, The adoption of these pronauncements
dud ne Barve any sigailicent impact on the Croup”s faanceal positson or perfomance

s CAmendments to PFRS 3, Refervnce 1o the Concepiual Froamewank
o Amendments o PAS 16, Property, Planr and Equiprent: Procecds hefore hitesrde Ly
o Amendments to PAS 3T, (nermes Contracts — Cosis af Frffilling o Contrait
¢ Armd Improvemenis fo PFRSs 2018-20200 Cyele
o Ansndmets o PFRS 1, Fies-time Aduption of Pirilippines Fiommciad Reporsing Stedards,
Subwidiawy us @ fTrsi-thive adopicr
o Amendments to PERS 9, Finanoial lestrrunemes, Fees bi the 10 per cem” sesi for
-'-I'E"i"l"-l"-':l,g;.'h'hr_lrr ol ﬁm,:m il Hherfediiaee
o Amendients o PAS 41, devicalure. Tavation i fine wnfee measureimens

Effecrive begimning on ar ofter oy [, 20238

& Amembments o PAS | atd PFRS Practice Statement 2, Dhivelosmre of dccommimg Paliees

= Amsendmeenits fo PAS B Defiaidfon of decowsinig Evrhmtes

o Amendments to PAS 12, Deferved Tax redivied we Aieets ond Linhilitios arising from o Stele
Tramsaction

Effvctive begiuming on or affer Jamuar I, 2024
v Amencments (o PAS L, Clawifecnion of Liahilities ax Crovent or New-carrent
#  Agncndments o PFRS: L6, Leave Liarifine in o Sole god Leavebaok

Effective begimming on i afier Samary 1, 2025
= PFRE 17, hrstramice Cinmiraciy

Dhgiiragad effeoinnin
& Amendmenis o PFRS 10, Ceolibsted Fiaanela! Statements, and PAS 28, Sale o0 Contreibailon
ol drsers henveesn an fnvesior and 5 Assochate or Joim Fererure

The Giroup does not expect the future sdoption of the applicable pronouncemems w kave o significant
impact o its consnlidoted financinl statemenis,

The Ciroup continues 10 assess the lmpact of the ahove new and amended accaunting standards and
incerpritation s cffotive subsoguent or 2022 w0 the Growg's conselidiaied financial skrensents i the
period of isital apphcation,  Additionnl disclosures required by these amendments will be inclisded in
the consolidated Mnancial statements when these smcndments are sdopied.



r o

Summary of Significan! Acconnting Policies

[ i 5

Lurrent versus Moncurrenl Classifcation
The Group presents asscis and liabilities in the conanlidated statemend of financial prosition based on
vurreni’incurrent classification.

Ad assel s cumert when o B

* Expected 1o be realized or intended to be sold or consumed i nommal opersting cvele:
+ Held primarily for the purpose of truding:
*  Expected 1o be realized within twelve (12) months after the end of the financinl reporiing period;

"
* Cash oo cash equivalent unbess restricred fom bring exchanged or used 6o setthe o Tinbility far of
lesst owelve monghs after the end of the financinl reparting perlod.

The CGiroup classifies all other assets as noncurrent.
A linkdlany 18 cuirnent when:

* It is expected to he settled in nommal operating evcle;

« Wiz held prmanty for the purpose of tading;

* Itis due 1o be setbled within twelve (12) manths after the end of the finaneinl reporting period; or

* There |s no unconditions right 1o defer the setilement of the liability for o least fwelve 112
monihs afber tw end of the financial reparting peried.

The Group classifies all other liabilitses as noncurrent.

Enir Malue Meauremen

Fair vahre is ibhe price thot would be neceived to sell on ssset or pakd 1o ramsfer 2 bability i an anerly
ransaetion berween markel pactscipants at the measwnement date, The fair valoe measement i
hused o the presumnpiien that the transaction o w6l the asset or immsfer the liability mkes place
cither:

* I the principal marke for the asset or liahility; or
*  In the ahsence of 0 principal market, in the most sdvamigeous market for the asset or liabiling,

The prmeipal o the most advantngadus markel mis be secesshle to the Group,

The fuir value of an asset or & Hability i@ measured using the assumptions that market participants
wionlld s when pricing the asset or fiahility, sssurming thil narkel patticipanis =1 in their economc
boat drileres,

A fner value measurenient of a non-finnncial asset takcs ko sceount o madcet participant’s abiliiy o
penierate econamic benefits by using the psset in its highest and best use or by selling it 1o another
mmarkit participant that would wse the asset m its highest and best gae.

T Giroup wses viduation techaigues thal are approprisse in the ciewmsaances and for which

sufficient data pre avallabie to mezsare fir value, maximezing the use of relevant observabls inpata
andd o sing the we of unobservable inpais.



i

All aseets and liohilities for which fir value & measered or disclosed in the consolidazed firancial
slatemienls are calegorized witlin the hir value hicrarchy, desoribed as Tollows, hased oo the bewest
Fevel inpud that is ssgnaficand 1o the fadr value measmemens &5 3 whale:

*  Level | —Quoted (unidjusted ) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liahilities -

o Leveld 2~ Vahestion technigues for which the lowest level input ihal is significant 1o the fois value
imeasaremnend is direetly or indirectly observable

o Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
Measareenent 15 undhservable

For assets and liahilities that are recopnized in the consoludated fnnncial statements on p recurring
basis, the Group detennimes whedher mnsfers have ovcuned between Levels in the hiemrehy by re-
assesainy cotegonzatian (based on the lowest level mpot that i sgnificant 1o the Fur vabee
measuremenl a8 3 whole) at the end of cach financizl reportmg dute.,

Far the purpase of fair value disclosures, the Group has determinal classes of assets and Habilities on
U i oF the nnture, clhorscteristics and risks of the asset or Hability and the level of the fir wloe
higrarehy as explamed above

Cash anif Cosh Bopivalents

Cash imeludes cash on hind und in banks: Cash eguivalents ane shor-term, highly liquid invesiments
thak are readily convertible o known amounts of cash with original maturities of theee (1) months o
less from date of placement, subject to an insignificam rigk of changes in value and held for the
purpese of meeting short-lenn cach comnsiments.

Vinancial [nstruments

foritial revergnlrion sad Sichseqgiem measareTeT

The Group recognizes o financanl asset or o financial lability i the statement of foanceal position
when it becomes o party to the contractual provisions of the instroment. Puichases o sales ol
financial assets that require defivery of assets within the lime frame established by regulation or
calvention i the marketplace are recogniced on the setilement dale

Fimoneiod axsely — Inittal recogmition ind sieasivremienih
Financinl pssots are classified, at mitinl recognition. as “subsequently mossured ot smortized cos™;
fuit vndue theough other comprehensive income (FVOCT); o FYTPL

The chasaification of financinl assels af innial recogition depenids on the Gnomcial assel™s ooniroctusl
cash Mow characteristics and the Oroup’s husiness model for monaging them, The Group initally
mcasures a financeal asset ot its fir volwe plis; in the case of & financiol asset nol ot fir salue thogh
et or foss, iransaction cosls.

In wreler for 8 financial asset 10 be classified and messuned 3 amortized cost or FYOUL 8 eeds o
givie riaz 1o cash flow that are ‘solely puyments of principal amd interest (SPP1Y on the principal
amiount outstanding. This assessmment is referrad 10 as the 3PP test nnd 15 performes at an instrament
level.

The Growgs's business model fs monaging finaicial sssets refers to how it manages its Anancial

ussgls in order o geneeate cash Tows. The hostess model determines whether cash Aows will resab
fram collecting conmactual cash Nows, selling ihe fnancial asscis, o bodh,



Subweguent measmr e
Fow purposes of subseguent mensuremend, fmancial assets are classified in four cotegories:

*  Finamcinl azscts ot amortized cost (debi instraments )

*  Fiancial assets af fair value through OCT with recycling of comulstive gaing and losses {debi
Rt RTHTE T

*  Financial assets designated ot fair value through OCT with ne recycling of cumulative gains and
losses upon derecognition fequity insinamenis)

*  Financial assets at fair valoe theough profii or loss

The Lreoup bas financial assets st amortized coat (debt instraments) and financial assets at FVTPL

Fimnciol aexets of amaetized vost fdeb? insiramwsents)
The Giroup messures financial assets at amoetized cost ifbodh of the following conditens are met

= The financeal assel is held wiihin & bisiness model wath the shjective to hold (nancial assets in
dmiler o eollver conlrscind cesh Tows; and

*  The contractisal terms of the financial assel give rise on specified dates 1o cxal ows that e
sokely paymenis of prncipal and interest oo e principal amomnt oestanding.

Finamcial assets al nmortized cost ane subsequenily messuved using the effisctive nserest mte (FIR)
medhiod and are subject o impairment. Gadins and losses ane recognized i profit or Joss wlen the
wssel s derecognized, modified or impaired,

This accounting policy relates to the Group®s cash and ensh euivalents, receivables, recervables from
related parties, shorl-lerm mvestments. and refiindable deposies

Financial ceesets o falr walae Sircugde profii or lois

A Msanceal asset sholl be measured af fair valoe throogh profit o Jiss weless 1 (s messared o
mortined cost or wl fair valee throagh other comprehensive income (OCT), However, an emtity may
make an inevocable clection ae initial recopmition for particelar investmens in cguity itstrumests thal
would otherwise be mensured al foir vohue through profit or loss to present sobsequeni changes in Gir
sl in OLCL

The Cirowp may, 31 imikal recognition, irrevocobly designabe a laoncinl assel s mensured st fuir value
through peodil or loss if doing w0 elimirates or significantly redisees 8 measurenen o recogmion
imconsistency (Sometimes nelermed Lo as an ‘sccounting mismateh ') thas swonld otherwiss arise from
MEAsng asscts or Habilities or recopnizing the gains and losees on them on different bases.

Included in this classification i s pese-denominsied mvestment in Unit Invostment Trust Fupsd
{UTTF) im Rizal Commercial Bunking Corporaticn (RCBC).

Drerecogmition of il axsets

A linancial asset for, where applicable. o pan of a financiol nsset o pan of a group of similar
financial sssets) s primarily derecopnized (1.2., removed from the Group's statement of Fnancial
pition] '.-l.'h.qn.i

»  The vights 10 receive cash Nows fram the sssel ave expaned: or

= The Cirdup lsas s oo its dighis to recelve cnsh Mows from the asset or las ossumed an
abligation te pay 1he recsivied e Nows in full without maternl delay 10 a thiad pany asder 2
“pass-through " arrangement: and eithier (1) the Group bas trans ferned substontially all the risks and
newands of the dsset, or (b) the Group has seiber trnsberred nor retained subssamtinily all the
rizks and rewards of the asset, but has transfemred control of the asset



Teupuiemvent of fiaareiad ggeets

The Group recognizes an allvwance Tor expected credit bosses {ECLa) Cor il debt mstriments s
liclel &t fnir valne. ECLs are bmsed om the difference bevween the contracsual eash Mows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash lows that the Group expects to receive, disceunted &1 an
approximation of U original effective interes rale, The expected cash flows will includs cosh fows
from the sale of collateral held or other gredit enhancements that are iegral 1o the conlrscmal terms.

ECLs are recognized in two slages. For cradil exposisnes for which there has nat beei i significant
incrense il credit nak siee initin] recognition, ECLs ave provided for enedst bosses that result from
defanll evenis that are possible within the 12 neotls (2 | Z-mentk BCLY. For those eredi exposures
for which there has been o significant increase in credit risk since Inilinl recognition, o loss allowance
w required fos credit Insses expeeted aver the remaining life of the exposure, imespective of timing of
the definalt (a lifetime BCLY

Adi impairmient sialysis s performed ot each reporting date and the Group generlly used the
pEvesaon makr 0 measure ECL, The mechanics of e ECL calealations und the key clemesis are,
ak follows:

. Probailite of defanlt (PD) is an estimate of the bkelilbood of defanlt over & given time losizon:

b, Exposuee ab digfouft (EAD) 4 an estimose of the exposare o a future deFaudt dale nking inlo
accaunt expected changes in the expostire afler the reporting dase.

G ok grven dlyfarenlt (LD woan estimate of 1he Joss arlsing m the cnse where o defEill ocoirs al a
given lime.

The Group®s debi insimments at pmonized cost comprise of cash and cosh equivalents, short-tenn
investmients and refmilable deposits that ase cansidered to have luw cradit fisk. Heneoe, it is the
Limoup’s podicy b measune ECL oo guch instrument an g 12-month basis applying the low credit risk
smplificateon and based on the PD which is publicly pvailable. However, when then has been o
Atgnificani increnes in credit risk smce origination, the allowance will be based on th [fetioe BCL.
The Ciroup uses exiemil coedil mtings both o determine whether the debt instnement has aignificanty
inereased in eredit risk and 1o estimate BCL

Far tuition sindl ther fises receavables, the Groap spplics a simplified spproach in cadeslaing ECL.
Thserefore, the Group does ot track changes in credit risk, but justead recogrine = loss nflowanee
hased on liftime ECL al each reparting date. The Groap generally wses & provision matrix w
cafculale BCL. The provision rabes are based on days past dhie for groupings based on sohool term,
The provision mairix is iniiially based on the Group's histoerical observod default mtes, The Giroup
will then consider directly rebevamt forward-fooking iformation. At every repaiting date, s
histarical ahserved difault rates une wpdoted sl clunges in the forward-looking estimaies are
consilened

Primary drivers like miscrocconamic indicaiors of qualitstive factors sach s forwand-looking e on
inflation rate and anemployment e were added 1o the ECL caleulation 10 resch 2 forecast supporied
by both quaniistive and gualitative dala poiss.

T Giroup may consider @ financial asket 10 be in defaull when imernal or éxternal informmtion
bidicates el thi Oreap is unbikely to necehve he outstnpding conmacioml amounis i il betare

taking ewie account any credit enhancements held by the Group, A finuneial asset i writien off when
thers 1w po rensonable expectation of recavering the contraciind cash Nows.



Firrnciel Liabilities - Initiol recogrition ard meaziwement

Financiz| labilities pre classified, an initial recognifion, ns financial abilities o fxir value through
profit ar loss. koans and birrowings, paysbles, o as derivatives designated as hedging instrurments in
an etfective hedge, as appropreate, and in the cose of Joas and bormawings and payables, et of
direcily atinbulable ranssciion costs,

The Group®s financial fiobilities inchude loans and borrowings.

Sufrveguent pregeiremen
The measirement of fnancial Tiabilitics depends on their classification, as described below-

*  Fianncial linbilies of fair valoe through peofit or leas
*  Loans and borowings

Leverans el flrl.rrT.IH'.'.rr.g::

Adter initial recogiition, interest-hearing loans and borrawings are subsequentby mensisred o
amrtzed cost using he FIR inethod, Amortized cost is calculated by toking fido account any
discaumt o preminin un acquisitien and fees or costs that are an integral pan of the EIR, Cains aid
wases are recogmized i profit or loss when the liabilites ire derecognized as woll as through the ETR
arnertizalion process, The FIR smortization |s ineluded 2¢ fnance costs in the statement of
comprelensive mneaane,

This accounimg policy applics primarily o sceounts payable and stlver current liahilities (exclisling
payubles 1o government), payables 1o related parties, dividends payable, lease labilities. nod lanns
payilble,

yrecogmition of fwmcind labitities

A financial liabidity 1= derecognized whon the ebligation ander the linbility & discharged) or cancelied
or expires. When an existing financial liahality is replaced by anstber Tram the sanse lemler on
substantially different terms. or the fermes of an-existing lability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modilication is treated as the derecognition of the eriginal lisbifity and the recognition of
a new linbifity. The difTerence in the mespociive cammying nmomts i3 recognized in the stoement aff
comprehbensive moonss,

Lieirng of Fiaamdeial Invmmenis

Finnncsal nsse1s and flnmscisl lnbilitses are offses and the wet amount is reported in the statement of
linanczal position iT and only il, there is o curently enforcenble legal right to offset the necogniasgd
amownes il thene s an meention (o setile on a net buas, of W oreadize the asset and settls the Hahility
sEmulianeously. This is not penerally the case with master netfing agreements, and the rekried assels
and liabilities are prosented gross i the sinrement of fieaneial position,

‘Thay I aifference

Where the jransaction pree in o non-active morket & different o the fair value from other ohservahle
current marked iransactions (i ihe same snstnoment or based on o valuotion technigue whose variables
meladz oaly data from ohservable market. the Group recogizes the diflerence belween he
Erunsschion price aid Gidr vabes (o *Bay 1" difference) in profin oe loss, unbess {0 gualifies Tos
recargnition sk kame other 1y pe ol aasel. In coses where use s made of dotn which is md abserable,
the difference betwoen the transacton price and model value is onfy recopnized in peofit o loss when
Ehe Ergpials: hecanse abservable oF when e mstnmdml 15 derecopnized.  For cach iransaction, the
Carougp detesmines 1he approgeiate method of recognizing the 'Day | difference amount.



Prepaid expenses and other curment aasels pertain 1o resources contralled by (he Cirowap as o result of
past events ml from which future soonomac benefits are expected 10 fow 1o (e Group, This secount
inchedes the followiig:

Preguid Expony
These are expanses paud in advance 10 be smontized over the benefis pericd o 10 be expense once
cirred o consursed.  These consist of prepaid insurnce and subscriptaos, among others,

T T T T e T
This pertsing 1o interes! bearing time deposits with teems of not mare than one year and leld For
Investmen] purpses,

Cradivedile Winhberdcding Tece (W)
This pertains ta the tix withheld soarce by the Group’s customers and lessecs and is creditable
dgoiist its ncome tx liabilicy.

foemtaries

invieninnes are stated af the lower of post and net realizable value (NBEY ) NRY is the selling jrrice in
the orbinary courss of the busiess, léss costs of completion, mesketng and distribution, Cost is
determined using weighted und sinyple average methods for textbooks, pristed matedils and supplics
intenuled for sale, '

Vinhue-addend Tax (VAT)

The inpait VAT penaing to the 12% indirect tnx paid by the Giroup o the course: of the Girougs trade
ar business o0 ocal purchases of goods o services, Input VAT that is not expectad 10 be (ully
opplied agains the outnt VAT of the succeeding vear s preseted as noncurnend asset,

Wi the VAT incared on o purchise of assets of servives is ot recoverable from the xation
nuthority. in which case, the VAT is recognized as pan of the cost ol sequisition of 1he ssset or as parl
af the expenss iem, a8 applicable.

Cunput WAT pertaing o the 129 tax due on the loenl sale of goods or services by the Group,

Priperty and Eoguipmesii
Property and equipment, excepl for lnsd. i stnted ab cost, lexs accummlated depreciation pond amny

inpskirTenl in valise.

The: initinl cost of property and equipment consisis of ts purchase price, inchuding nmport duties,
faxes and amy directly altrtbutnble coats of bringing Uhe asden to fs workine condition and loeation (o
its intended vse. Expeditures incureed after the assets have been put inte operation, such as repairs
and manstemance, are navmally chorged v operationg in the period in which the costs are incurred. I
situations whsere it can be cléarly demonsiated that the expenditures have resulizd in 80 increase in
The Fultre ecomomse benefils expected to be obtadsed feoats e wse of an den of propenty and
ciuipreenl beyond fs origislly pssesed standurd of performance, the expeinlining dee capitilioed as
an ndditional cost of property and equipment

Constroction i progies ropresents propenty under construction and is goted ot cost, This includes

cutsl of consdirction and othey divect etz Conzimietion i progress B nol depeeaaied it such dme
that the relesvant asse1z ane ready for teeir intendesd use.
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Pepreciation is comguted using the straighi-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of the
rolated nssels as follows:

Years
Buildings andd improvememis k-0
EHTice Furnite and equipment -1
Transpartation couiprmesng 4

Lensehold improvemnents are amartized over the term of the lease of the estimated wsefil lives of the
imiprovements, whichsver is shorier.

Thie BEUL and depreciation methied are reviewed perlodically to emsure thot the period pml method of
deprecaniion are comsstent with the expocied puttern of econumic bemefis from iwins of property

el s,

Fully depreciated propecty nnd equipiment are retained in the accounts umtil they are no Junger I ue
and oo furifier depreciafion and amortization ene credited 10 or charged against current operations.

When assezs carried o oos? nre retived or atheraise disposed of, the cost and related aocurmminted
dheprecintion are semovied from (e nceounis nd any pesulting gain or loss is reflected o pan of
currenl cperabiens, When land carried at revalued amount nre retined or atherwise disposed ol, the
camying amauil, which is the fuir valoe a1 e time of wale or dispesal, is derecopnized aod no cein or
I is recognized,

Lartnd ar Revamed Amuunts
Land i carried ot its revalued smoust. The appraised values used for revaluntion were detcimined by
indlependent Frms of appraisera.

Thee matial cost of band consists of its purchase price and directty attributable costs of bringing the
nsset 1o i working condition ond locadion lor i miended use,

T appaaisal increment (net of deferred tux ) resubting from the revilsstion i cradited 1o OCT and
sccumualated in equity under “revilustion increment on lomd — net™ secomit. Decremes in valiation is
charged to profif or loss, sxcept to the extent that it reverses the existing scoumelated revolistion
nerement on he some asset sl therefore such decrease is recognized i OC]. The decrense
recignized in UL reduces the revalisstion inerement on lind — el account in equity, In case s
stbequent revaluntivn inerense of an aguet reverses a revaluation decresse previously recopnteed i
profit oe foss, swel increase is credited to income in prafi or loss.

The sama rules apply to impainnent besses. Ao impaimment loss on o revalued asset is Tirst ised 1o
redege the reviduation morament for that nsset. Only when the impamment loss exceeds the mmaouin in
the revaluntion inerensent For thad same axset is ony further impadrsment loss secogisiaed i prafit or
hirds.

Lipan disposad, any revaluation imcrement reluting te the lind being sold is iransferred to retnined
EUTINES

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liobiliies

The Group recognizes sighi-ol-use asscts and leoac labilitkes on contracts dhat quodify a5 leases under
FERS L6, The Group recognizes right-of-use asaets of the commencement date of the Jease (Le.. the
date the underlying ssa is availahle for nse), Right-of-ise adseis are messured o cosl, fess any
accumiblnued depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for ary remensirement of loase



tiabvilices. The cost of right-of-ise assets includes the amount of Tease Tiabilites recognized, initial
direet costs imwurred, and kease payments made nf or before the cammencement date less any lease
tneenives received and estimate of costs 10 be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
unclerlying aseel, restoring the site on which i is lecated or restonng the underdying asse o the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incireed 1o produce
rvetorics. Linless the Ciroup is reasonabidy certain to ablain ownership of the leased asset at the end
af the lease term, the recognized right-ol-use assets are depreciated on a stralgli-line basis over the
alworter of ws estimated usefil life and the lease tenm,

Right-of-tee aseels are subject w impainment. Refir 10 the scconnting policies on bnpairment of
MNomfinancial Assets,

Lenge labilities méasored ot the present value of lense payments 1o be made over the lense teem. The
lense parymiis inchude fxed poymenis (including in subsiance fixed payments) less any lese
mcentives receivahle, variable lense pavmints that depend on an index ar 3 tte, and smounts
esipecied to bi paid under residual value gunmntees. The feise payments also Include the exencise
price ¢tF i purchnse optson rensonubly cerain b be exercised by the Graup and payments of penalties
o lennimating 2 bease, if the lemse temm reflects the Group exercssing the option o tenminate. Tlhe
vonable knge payments thot de mot depend on an index ar a rate are reeogninad as expense in the
perwsd oo which the event or condition that irigeers the pavment oceurs,

I caleutating the present vilue of lease payments. the Group wses the meremental bormowing rate
(THR) a1 fhe bease Sommencernent dace §f the iterest rate implicit in the lease is not resdily
determinahbe, Afler the commencenvent date, the amount of lease labiliies is menenged 1o re e the
hectetion of mierest and redsced lor e bease payments made. In sdditson, the carrying nmounst of
et linbilities is remeasured if there 14 & modification, a change in the keose term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease payments or o change in the nssessment o purchase the underlying asser

The Limoup applies the shor-tern lease recognition exemption to i shori-tenm leases of office space.
1 nkser applies the low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value,
Lense payments on short-term lesies and leases of lowevalie assets are récopaizal os expense on g
atraiglit-lite hisis over the bense term:

Business Combimation sad Goodwill

An acquisition o7 a business (e, an inteprated set of activities and assets that is capabbe of being
conducted and managed for the purpese of providing & retuen divectly 1o mvestons) is o business
eembinigian,  Business combinations are aceounted for using the scquisition method. The acquired
identifiable tangible and intangible ssete, labilities and cantingent liabilitles are messured ut their
fair walues a1 the date of the acquisition. Any excess of the scquasition cost over the aet fair value of
ibe identifiable asséts nequired and labilities assumed is recogiized as poodwill. The cost of an
aoquesition is measured o5 the sugregate of the considerntion transferred, measured 3 acquisition date
Ligi value and the amonnt of ooy pin-conteolling interest in the acquiree. For each husiness
cormbination, the acquiver measures the non-controlling interest in the acguires either at fir value o
af the proporiionate share of the scquiree’s identifinble net assets.

When the Group soqubres o business, o assesses the financial assets and habiites ossumed for

sppropriate clossilication and designation m accordance with the contracrual terms, cooncanic
cereumstances and pertrent conditions as a1 the acquisstion date
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Any cositingent consideratsen 10 be transferred by the scquirer will be recognized ar fair value af the
acqirsition date. Subsequent changes 1o the fir volue of the contingent considemdion which |s
deemed 1o be an asset of lability will be recognized in accordance with PAS 3% gither in prosfit o s
ar as 4 change to OCLIF the contingent consaderation is classified a3 equity. it should mat be
remeasared until it is finally seiled within equity.

Cinodwill is mitially measized at cost being ihe excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transterred and the amount recognized for non-controlling ivlevest over the net identifishle asses
nequired amd Hahilities assumed. 1 dils considerntion is lower than the fair value of the net nssets of
the: subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the comsolidaled stamemcm of comprehensive

LCEsTeE,

Afler milial secognition, geodwill s measired af cost bess any sccumulnied imgmalrment losses. For
the parpose of mpaimmsent lesting, goodwill acquined 4 & business combination &, from ihe
acquisiteen date, allocated e cach of the Group's cash-generating wnits (CGLY thas are expected o
hemefit from thie combination, imespective of whether other assets or linhilities of the acquines an
assigned i those inite. |mpatrment losses relating 1o goadwill eninat be reversed in Amare perinds.
Thie Giraup performs s impaarment test of goodwill a1 least annually.

Thse gohwill recognized in the Group's consolidated statement of finanicial position pertains 1ot
ueqquisttion of MEST and merger with AB] as disclosed in Motes & amf 12

tutangible Assets Ot Than Goodwill

Intangible asseis acquined sepurately nre measured on inftial recogmation ot cost, The cost of
intangible axsets acquired in & business combination is the fuir value a5 af the date of scguisition.
Hubseguemily, inangible assets are mensired 8l cost dess sovumulaied amorization and peovidion Toe
impairment logs, ifany. Intemally generated intangibbe assets, excluting enpitalized development
wonts, are not capitalized and sxpenditine i reflected in the conralidaced safement of mconke m the
year inowhich the expenditine i1 incorred

Thee eatimatad useful ife of imangible assets iv nssested s dither fisite o indefinite. The cetimated
usefisl lives of infangible assels are as follows:

Muritber of Yénrs
Intellectunl property riglhis Irledinine
Sindain rl:l:ﬂl'nru:h.lp 57
Seftware cost A

e estimated useful lives of mtangible arseis with finis lives ore assessed nn the sndividual nsset
hevied, Intanpable assets with finite Sives are amortied over their estimnbed usefisl lives on 2 ciraiphs-
liree buisis. Periods aisd wethod of enortization for intangible assets with inie usefi) lives are
reviewed onnually or carlier when an indicator of impairment cxists.

Changes in the expocted wseful Bife or the expected pattern of conswmption of future econmmic
hunefils embodied in the asset bs accounded for by chanping the amoitizatkn pecied o methad, as
appropoiate, nmd are beabed as changes in accounting estimntes. The amoniizatlon cxpense on
infangitle assecs witly (nie Hyves s recopnized in the consolibaiad stalenent of coniprehensive
ineome jo the expense category consistent with te funciion of the intangihles assels.
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Intangibie assets with indefimite weful lives are nol smonized, bt are tested For impairment wimes iy,
either individually or at the CGU level, The nssessment of mdefinite nseful Tifo & mviewed anmually
W determine whethes the indefinite wseful Iife continues to be supponable. 1€ oL, te change in
uselial life from indefinine 1o finle is made on & prospective basis.

A gam or boss arising from derecognition of on mitangible asset is measured as the difference between
the net disposal proveeds and the carrylng amount of the infangible assers and is recognized in e
consalidated siatenin of comprehensive Income when the intnngible assel is derocognized

bmpastent of Nonfaancial Assets

Propesiy and eypipmont, studens relasonchip, right-of-use assits, and oiher nonmcnrrend axvens

The Lroap assesses us of reponing date whether there b8 an indication that nonfinancial assets imay e
nmpuired, ITany such indication exists, the Group makes an caimate of e assel’s recoverable
mnunt, An asset’s ricovemble amaant is caloalaied as the higher of the asset’s or CGL s Thir enlpe
tess costs Lo sell and i vale in use and is devermined for an individnal ssser, uness (he asser does
rof peneraie cash inflows shar ane largely independent of these sssets of grotps of arsets. Where ihe
carmyiny amuoamt of on assel excesds its recoverable amouwt, the nssef is congidersd el arsd is
wriiten down In Hs recoverable amonnt. [ nssessing value in use, the estimated future cash fows are
disvounted t their present value using a pre-ax disceunt rane that rellects current murkes adsessmnent
Al the tme vale of mosey and the risks specafle W the asset,

An assessnent is made at each Mnancial reporting dade a8 10 whether there is 2n indication deat
previoualy recognized impnitment |osses iay no longer exist or may lave decreased. [T such
inehication exists, the recoverable amount is esttinated, A previoushy recopnized mipairment loss is
reversed only if there has been o change in ihe estimasis wad (o determime the asset™s recoverable
arrkoain Side the lust impairment loss was recognized. 17 thad 1s te case, the camying mmount of the
usset 15 increased o its recoverable amoant. That incrensed smouni cannet exeoad the canrying
At that would have been decerminad. net of depreciation and amortization, had no impaiment
lvsx been recogiized for the asset in priar yesrs. Such reversal is recognized in profit o Joss unless
The asaed i coried ot revalued amount, in which case ibe reversal  trested as revaluntion neresse in
CCE o the extent that it revenses & revaluation dicrese of the same ssset that wis previoesly
recpgmized in DL Aller such reversal, the depreciation and smortizatien charge is adjusiod in fiture
periods 1o nllocaie the asset’s revised eamying smount, bess any residual value, on o systemalic basis
aver its rermaining usefil life.

Croawtwill sl hedelicetial properee vighes
Choodwill and mtelleciunl propeny riglts are reviewed for inpainset, onmaally or more frequenily il
Events of champes in circumstncs indicale that the oamying vilise may be impaineld.

Impugrment on goadwill amd inteHecteal property rights are determingd by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-genernting it w0 which these asseis relotes, Where the recoverable aimumt of
the cash-geverating unit is bkess thaw the carvying amount, sn impainnent loss is recognized.
lmpairment lasses rebsting o goodwill canot be reversad (n fiture periods

Eouity

The Group records conuman stock ot par value for all shares ssood and mstanding, and sdditiomal
pHsd-in capatal for the excess of the ol comrbutions recenved over the aggreante pur’ villies of the
equity slares, When the Group issues more than one class of siock, o se{miabe accomi 15 mainkingd
far cah class of siock and the mumber of shares sswed. Incremental costs incurred direetly
atlribustable to the issvance of new shares are shown in equity as & deduction from proceeds, net of
=y, When any member of the Group purchases the Group®s cogrital stock (tressury shares), the
comsaderation pail, including any attrbatable incremenial costs, s dedicted from eguity atrbutahle



- Jd=

o dhse Girowp s ety boldees umil the shares are cancelbed, reissued ar disposed of ' Where such
shares are subsequently sold or rdssued, any consideration received, net of any direety anributable
ictememnl tronssction costs ond the selaved tax effects, & incladed in iUy, Mo gain or loss is
recognized in poofit or bis on the purchase, sale. Bawe or cancellation of the Parent Conipany s own
gLty investmenis

Rotadted eomings represent accumulaled comings less dividends declarsd any sedjissfiment arising
from application of new accounting stalards, policies or commection of errors applied retroactively,

The mdivadual gecumsland eammings of the subskdianes are available for dividend declaration when
these are declared as dividends by the respective subsidiaries as approved by their respective BOD o
BT, as agplicalle.

Bavemes and Incomre Recognilin

Revenue is measuned based on the consideration to which he Group cxpects te be entitled in
exchangie for transfrring promised goods of services 10 0 customer, Revenie i recognized when the
Cirourp sutis fies a performance abligation by transfereing 8 promised good o service to the castesner,
wlkich 18 when the customer obisins control of the goods or service. The Giroup sssesses its revenue
armungements against specific criterin in onder to delermine if if is acting as principal or agent. The
Group has coneluded that it s acting ns principal in all of its revense arangemends,

Revente from schools and relused operations consist of the following:

Rvesne frann ficition and other siatriowlation fees

Reovenue from tuition fees and other matriculiton fees are recognized over time over the
eorresponding school wrm ssing the autpul methad (i ., time lapsed over the service period such as
setnester of school year, depending on the currcalom registered), Upon eorollment, studenis hove
e apison fo pay the witien awl other matricnltaion fees m il of in insaltment

Crfr atsicdensi-vefuted lncome
Unher student-related Inconie & recognized ana pomt in tme wpon delivery of the promised goods 10

thie cusbomer o at-podnt iy time when services hag been sendered. These mainly consist of the
(B [T TR

Avlweissiom, eoimilngrbon and siber fees
Admisaien, examinalicn and other lees are recognized oy income when exanination has been granied
by the: sehool and related services have buen provided b the squdenss {at point in time).

Koo moame
Bookaloro income s recognized when goods heve been delivared to the buyer (ot paint in time),

Seumiear (i
Sefmitor income 1< recopnized s soome over the corresponding tern of as the services are rendered
fal pdeink i Bz OF gver Lime

Mrcrlfoimein: ivconme
Mlisce s lscane s revoenined when eamed kil B e,

Fale ol goods i3 recognized us revenui upon delivery of the goods to the buyer (a1 polnt tn time)

Sale of servioes is recognized wiven serviees are rendered (over lime)
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Following are contragt balances relative 1o FFRS 15

Recetuahfio
A receivable represents the Growp's right 10 on smount of consideration that s uncendilionol
die, only the passage of time 1S required bofore payment of the considension is duel,

Ciitrac! avweto

A contract assol is the rght o consideration (0 exchange for goods of services transfemed Lo the
cusiomier. IFthe Group perlimes by fransferting goods of seevices b 8 casiomer before the paymens
% thue, @ contract assel is recognized for the camed considerntion thal is condifional,

Chvdreres fanhilivies

A contragt liability i the abligation 1o fransfer goids or services 1o-a customer Tos wliséh tie Cimoup
bas received consideration far an mnount of consideration is duey from the eustomer, g custamar
Pry's consideration before the Group trunsfers poods or services to 0 custamer, @ comrmcs ligbakity is
recagnized when the payment & made-or the payinent is dise (whichever is carlier). Conlract
linhilities are recagrized 5= revenue when the Group performs undor (bt contract. The Group's
conitract lishilities represent the umearned income on (uition fiees (presented under uneamied licooe)
and accounts payuble to studerits (presonied under neconnis payable amd ather current Lobiliies) and
will be recognived ax revenue when the reluted educationn] services are rendered,  Acenunis pavahle
x Stdents are advadice collections from students 1o be applicd 0 the next schiool sear ar schodsl term.

]

The Ciroup’s costs and ox penses comstiliiie cosis of operating the busmess recogmized inthe
eonstldimted statement of comprebensive tncome os mcmied.

Cost aof sesindy cuved sl apierations

Cost il schools and related operations constnge experses directly reisted o the Group's schosl und
related sperations which include expenses for snfaries aid woges af teaching and acaemic suppart
personnel. sludend welfare sctivities, and all other studeni-related costs amd expenses. Cost of schoals
ancl related operations are recogiized as expense wien the schoal and related services hive been
proviced ko the sudents:;

Crampven! amed Adminiviranive Expenvey
These cxpenses consiifule costs of administering the business, Geteral and administmtive experses,
CRCoM i renl expanse, are recopnized as incurned,

: SO
Inperest and fimaneiing @loarges, exclucling capitalizable bstrowing costs, is recopnieel as EXPRIEE il
the period in which it & incumed.

Bomawing costs are copetnlized if they arc directly srributable 1o the acguisition or construction of
sualifying asset, Borrawing costs consist of merest il other costs that the Group incars in
ennneetion with the horrowing of fimds. Capitaliention of borrowityg costs commences when the
dctivities o prepare the asset are in progress and experditures and borrowing costs ane being incurned.
Bomrowiig costs are capiialized until the sssess are substontially ready for their inended ise,

Retirgmiont Benefits
Ratirement benefits cost is nctuntially determined using the projecied nnie credit inethod. This
miethad considers ench period of service a8 giving rise 1o un odditienal unit of benefit entithement and

masunes ¢ach unit separigly to build up the final obligstion.
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Hotirerment benefis cost comprises e foblowing:

< Bervice cosly
- Net interest on the net defined benefit linbility o asset

Service cosls which inchide current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses o NoRHTne
settlements are recognized as expense i profit or Joss, Pasl service cosis are recegnized when plan
nnbctsderaent o curtabinenl oociers

Mt interest on the net defined benefit Hability ornsset is the change during the period 15 the nei
detined benglit liability or asses that arises From the passage of hme which is determined by applying
the discount rate based an high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefi liabifiny or assel
Med miterest on the net defined benefil Hability or asser is recognized as expeise of income in profit o
Joes,

Hemensurenients comprizsing sctunrial guing and losses (excluding nei Enierest oo dafined benefit
liahility) are rocognized immesdintely in other comprehensive incame fn the periad in whicl ey
e, Reteasurenmvents aro mol reclassiliod 1o profil or loss in subseguenl persls.

The net defined benefit balility ar nsset is fle aggregale of the present value of the delined bereli
abligation at the end of the reportng period reduced by the fair value of plin assets (i any), sdjussed
tor any effect of limating & net defined benefit asset 10 the axset ceiling. The asset coifing is the
present value of any economic henefits availnble in ibe form of refurds from the plan o fedustions m
futuie coniitbutions o the plan.

Plant assets o nssets Ut are held by a long-term employee bepefit fund or quafifying maurnnce
palicles. Plan assets are nol availible 1o the creditors of the Growp, nor con they be paid disectly 1w
the Giroup. Fair valie wf plan e i based on mnsket price information. When no market pHoe is
aviilable. the fir value of plan assets is cuiimated by disconnting expested Tutere cash flows g a
discomitt rufe that reflocts both the risk nssocinisd with the plan asoets nd e IOy ar expecied
dispeaal dute of those asels (or, iTthey have no maturity, ihe expected period uniil the setidement of
the: pedaed ehlignizone,

Income Taxes

Crivrent dax

Current las assels and linbilities for the carrens and prior periods are messsired a1 the ameount expecied
0 b recovered from ar paid to the taation suthoritics, The tax rates and tax liws used 16 conpate
e mmant are thisse ind ure enacted uf substantially enacied ot the financial reporting date.

Fleforred ti

Dreferred tx is provided, using the balance sheet liability methosl, on all temporary differences ot the
financaal ceporting dale between the tax bases of assets and Habilities and iheircarrying smontds for
finuncial reporting purposes

Delerred ta Tiabalities ave recognized for ol mxoble wemporary di Merences, Pelerred tax seiels are
recogniaed for all deductible temporry differences, net operufing loass carry over iNOLCO) and
T corperale meome @ (MOTT) 0 dhe extent ihab 1 is profabile thal funere cogable profi will
be ivarlabie against which the deductible temporary differences can be uiilized. Dieferred tax,
hawever, is nol recognined when it urises from the initial recognition of an asset or lability in o
teangaction thal is not 0 business combination onid a1 te tme of the traisactson, nffects neltler the
accounting profil for axable profit or loss,
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The carrying armount of defierred tnx nasets iy ceviewed at each Tnaselal reporting date amd reducesd 10
the extent than & |s no longer probable that sufficien figure hxable profit will be available 1o slbow all
af part of the defemed [icome tax nsset 1o be utilizsl

Wihaen a subsidiary i disposed, and said subsidiary has & single asset, lind, which is clssified as
property and equipment carried st revalued amount in the consalidated financial satements. the tax
paid o dispesal of the subssdiary, emanating from the difference between the eostof e fasd and i
selling price, is tmken 1o OCT in the consalidated stalement of compralensive income, The relsied mx,
e.i. cupital gains tax (COT), is netted apains ibe reversal of defered tax lisbility on revaloation
inerement of land sold theough sale of subgidiary.

Deferred incomie tax that reltes 1o fiems that are recognized: (a) m other compechionsive incomse shall
be recogrisad in other comprehensive income: amd (b) directly in equity shall be recognizsd direetly
b equity,

Creferred income fux sssers and linbilitics are offset i a lepaily enforceable right 10 offuet currens
INCOME L4k against current income Lix Tabilities and the deferred income tx sasels ind Rinhililics
relate 1o incom inaes kevied by the same tixation anthoriry on etther e some @xsble entity or
different taxasble entities which imend fo either settle current incein tax lsbilities and nssets on a ner
basis ar 1o realise the sssets mud settle the linbilities zirmiltaneously, on ench future period i which
signilicant amsvunts of deferred income i asseis and fiabilities are expecied 10 be setded ar
recavered. Subsidianes operating in the Philippioes file inconse tax retums on an individual hasis,
Thus: the delerted 1ax assets and deferred tux lishilities are offset on a per entity basis.

o T
Leases i which the Growp does st transfer substamtially ol the risks e beaelits of ownersh ipoof
the usset pre ¢lassiffed as eperating leases. Inifial direcs costs incurred in negolinting an opetaling
bense arc adided 1o the canrying anvwant of the leased asset aimd recognized over the beassd Term on fhe
saifie bases as rental income. Rendnl incorme s recognized on @ sitaighi-linge basis gver the temm of the
lemse,

Foreign currency -denvaminated smusactions are recorded using the prevailing exchange mies at the

time of trisactions, Foreign cwrrency-denominnied monetary asseis sl Habililies are iranstated 10
Philippine Pesar elosimg rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date, Exchange gains or losses

drising from foregn cumenoy are charged 1o profit or los.

Husic earnings per comman shane is compisted hosed on welghivd aversge number of issued amd
outslanding common shures, less easury shares, sfter giving retroactive effect for dny stock
divicends. [iluted eamings per share, if applicable, is computed on the hasis of the weighted averge
narnber of shares eulsanding during the vear plus the weiglied average number of oritinary slhares
it weould b ssued on the conversion of all the dilutrve poreminl prdiiary shares into ondinary
shares. There are no dilitive potentio] common shares that woiild requive disclosune of dalued
eRrmings per comimon share in the coisalidated finpncial statermenta.

Seurwml Reponing

The Group's operating business are organized and mansged separately accordiiog lo the nanere of
services provided. with each segment representing » stratepie business unit that offers diffescn
products and serves different markess. Financial imformation on business segmients is presented in
Mate 28 tocibe consolidated finnngial statements



Provisi
Provisions are recopnizod when (5) the Grop has & present obhigation {lepal or constructive) as a
rosuilt o a past event, (b) it is probable thar an ourflow of assets enthadying econamic beselits will be
required 1o sedtle the obtigation und (¢} a rehinble estimate con be mode of the aomount of the
abligation. IF the effect of the time valoe of money ls materal, prowisions are detarmined by
discounting the expected future cash (lows at o pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of
the time valsie of meney s, whers agpropriate, the risks specific to the lishilig. Where discouming
is usedl, the tncrease in the provision due io the passage of time is rocognived s on interekt expense,

Comtingent labilities are nof secopnized in the consalidated fmanciol atements. These are disclosed
unless the possibility ol an outflow of resounces embodying econemic benefits is remote. Contingent
assaets ary nol recogirized in the consalidated financiul staements bait are disclosed when an inflow of
ecrnamie Benelils is prohahie,

Lvends pliey the Fingngial Reporting Dalg

Post year-endd events up te the date of the suditor's repart that provide additional infonmotion abous
thee Groaip s position at Fnancinl reporting date (ndjusting event) ore reflected in the consilidated
financind sislemenis. Any past year-end events thal ate nod sdjusting events ane disclosed when
miakerial vy the consalidaied Gnancial sfntements.

Sigaificant Accomnting Judpments and Estimates

The prepumtion of 1he consoldated finnncial stnemenis requires mansgement o make judgments and
estimates thl affect the amounts reported in the consolidaned finnpcial statements and sccempanying
modes. Future events may eocur which can ciuse the assamptions used in arriving i e estimates
1 eluange. The effects of nvy chanpeés in estimates will be rellécted in the consolidated fraomcial
satermanus o8 they bocome reasanably detenminnble.

Judgenveiits and estimates are continually evalusted ond are based on hisorical expenience and aiher
factogs. including expectations of Tuture evenis that are helieved 1o be ressonuhle wder tse
CINCUMSENCeS,

Fate voafuainen of fured

The Groap messares land af revilued smount with changes in Gair value bemg reeopized in othir
camprehensive income. The Group engaged an independent firm of sppmisers to detarmine the fair
valive o5 of December 31, 2022 and 2021 The key assumptions used 1o detennine Gir value are
disclosed in Mote 11

Aus ot Plecember 31, 2022 and 2021, the Fair value of land amonpied o #7.57% 4 millisn and
Bo G0 E million, respectively (Mote 111,

Estimention of allewance far ECL on twitien awd oiber fees recelvabdex

The Group gencrally uses provision marix o caleulate BCL for tuition and other fees recervalsles.
The provision rtes are based on days past dise for groopings of variods costomes segmends thid have
siinifar boss patlerns. The provision matnx is initially besed on the Group s histosical observed
detaudt mees, The Croup will theh consider directly relevant forward-losking information. At every
reporting dite, the historion] chaerved default rates are updated and foreond-looking factors speciile
b thie dobiors amd the econontic environmyent are wpdated w consider the impact of the comonnvins
pandanic,
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The Group alse applied weights 1 varioas scemarios in the computation of the allowance for FOL fo
incorporte inpact of uncertainty doe 1o the cunent econamic conditions such as the mpact of the
coronivirns pandense. The amaune of BCL s sensitive to changes in circomstances sndl of forecast
economie conditians, The Group’s historical credit loss experisncs and forecast of economic
conditions may also not he representative of the customer s actun] defiubl o ilse Tuture.

Allowanee for ECL on tuition and other fees receivables and-related carmying value are disclosed in
Mo B

Lowses imadyr FFRS 16 — Extimariog the 18R

The Group cunnet readify determine the interest rate implicid in the leme. therefore, it uses [BR w
meeasune bease lishilities. The IBR is the mbe of interest that nn entity wiold have 1o gy b bograw
aver o similar teem, and with o similar seearity, the Funds necessary to ohéain sn paset of & shinilar
valie o the right-of-use asset n s similar sconomic snvimmment. The TBR tefefore reflects whint the
enfities "weould have to pay”, which reguires estimation whes no abservable rites ore avaiable {such
as for entities Ut do o enter inte Mnancing mossctions) or when ey nesd 1o be sdiesed o rellea
b femms amd conditions of thi lease (for example, whien lexses are ot in functional currency | The
Group estimates fhe TBR using observable inputs such as imarked ivteress mxies) when avatlsbde and s
reqatired s nake cectain entity-specific estimutes (such &= the stasl-alone credit rating ).

Tl Clroup's right-ouse assets aned Jease linbilities are disclosed in Note 31

iprivareent e ool esets

bmpairment of goodwill ond imelleeal propery rights (noniisancil assels wilh fdefinide ysefulh are
assessed ot ledst on an wamial basis. 10 assessing the impirment, the Group delennines the
recoverable am<unt ssimg valoe i ise with details disclosed in Notes 6 and 12, In 2022, an
imnpaiensent loss on intellectual property right attribuenble o APEC amounting #32.2 million o was
recogniged (il in 2021 and 2020). The camylig valie of these assets sre disclosel in Noges 6 and |2

As 10 the Croup™s student relationship, an impairment liss wos reasuniped n 2021 o stusdent
relationship aitrutable 1w APEC {nil in 2022 and 2020) [Note 6],

In 2022 and 2021, the Giroup performed mm impaimment testing of the property and equijsiment and
right-of-use agseis of AFEC amoumting to #4160 millon and P355.2 million as of

Decenber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, due o the continwing losses and significant decline in
thenumber of stoderis due 1o the coronnvirus pandemic. In assessing the impaiment, the Group
delermines the recoverable amount using vabue in use, with detnibs disclosed in Mot 31, Managenen
nssessed thal theae assel as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are not impaired considering that the
calculated recoverable wmount is hgher than the carrying value {see Notes 10amd 310,

Esttmation of pension obligations wid other retivement besiefit

The determyination of e Group™s pension cost and liabilities 1% dependent on the selection of certan
assamptions used in calculating such amoams, Those assumptions inchide, among sthers, discoum
raie and salary incresse mite which were disclosedd in Note 24 snd to which the cash Mows e most
engitive fo. While the Group believes that the assimptions are réasoaoble anid appeopriae,
sigmeficant differences in ihw actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materinbly
afTect the rethroment expanss and rolabed aseet o lskilicg

As af December 31, 2002 and 2021, the met pension lisbilities amounted 10 P129.8 million and
#124.2 million, respectively, while net pension assets anounted so PIE. T millon and P18, ) million es
al Deécember 31, 2022 and 202 1, respectively (Note 25)
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Lheiferred fox gervety

Thie Ciraup reviews the carrying amaounts of defemsd tax sssets atench finsneiad reporting date angd
recluices deferred tax issels io the exient that it is no lotger probable that sufficient fusure txable
profit will be nvmlabde to allow all or part of the deferred meome tax asseds o be wiilizod, Where
there i v absabire assurance that cach legal entity in the Groap will generite sullicient taxahle profie
b atlow all or part of i deferred fx assess 10 be wilized. deferred tax assets e g recogitized,

Dreferred tax assets recognized and semporary differences on which deferred tix dssets were nol
recopiized ave disclosed i Mote 23

Provivime

The Girpap i currently involved in cemain legnl proceedings ond claims in the ondinary course of
business. The estimate of the probable costs fur the resolution of tese clains has been devolaped in
conzuliation with cutside counsel handling the delense in these mabless and i based upon an snalysis
of patendial resihis. The uhiimnte disposition of these maliers cannot be determined with cerainy.
Te Groiap will exhamst all fegol remedies avidlable 1o it in defending Beefl in these Guims ang
proceedings (Moles 14 and 31},

Intangilide Asseis Arising feim the Merger

As.a reault of th menger which was disclosed in Note §, People, inc. issued 1w AC o0 agprogate of

205329976 shares with par valwe of B1.0 per shure for a total Bir value of B3,5%1.21 millicn based
on ifeeple, te.'s quoted closing mte per share ax of Moy 2, 2009 in exchange for the trassfer of the
net assets of AEL The excess of the fair value of shares issoed over the par value wos recopnized as
adddional prid-in capital

The: Giroup recogiized the fflowing intangitibe assers in 2009 asa result of the menger

Imtellectual property rights B523.103
Stadem relsionship 11,00
Lintdwil] {Moke 12} 13472

POAZ 2HA

fintelbectual peoperty nights have infinte lifeand the stsdent relationslip have an estmated usefu) life
il 5 years io 7 years based on the coniractual relauonship between the school entitics and it8 studems.
These assets are stiribated from the acquisition of operating schools NTC, APEC grd LING

DIntefleciun! Propern Niplhes

As of Dhecamiber 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group performed impainment esting on miellectonl property
rights using (he income appeoach {rovally reliel method) wherein recoversble valve is compised
baset on rovalty savings. Key psspmpiions mied are as follows:

*  Revenue progections and long-rerm growil mte (3% for 2022 and 2021 ). Revienae projections
based on financial bedgets opproved by management and the BOD asd considens the impact of
the coramavirus pandemic, The log-tonn prowth mite considerns ihe expected growih rmie v the
eduigation iwbugiry seclor.

*  Disgount rates ( 10% 0 17% For 2022 and 14% 10 15% for 20211, The discount sate used Tor the
computation o the net present value is the weighted sverage cost of capiinl ind was detenmined
by refesence Lo comparnble listed companies i the educational sector,
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* Raoyabty mies (1% 10 6% for 2032 and 2021, This is based an the pubticly available itformation
im frunchising of educational institutions in the Philippines, with consideration an the spertional
risk of the involved enfity.

The Girowp's impairmend teeting on intelleciun] property ghis resulied 1o fhe recognition of
F32.2 millicns empairment logg on APEC in 2002 (nil in 2021 and 2020), The carrying vahse of
uedbectnal property rights & of Decomber 31, 2022 amd 2021 amounted to #490.9 million and
#5230 million, respectively

Stuclenr Refationelip
The eanying vahic and movement of student relntionship as of and for Uie year ended December 1]
fnllows:

. 2021 2011
Lot from husiness gombdnation Pllsar P00
Accmmelsicd amertization:
Heginning balance (71,248) (37,184)
Amortization and impasrment (Noge 20a) (33,0412} {35 0154 )
Eoding bokamee {105,250) (72,248}
Ralnnge on end of the vens BL0TSS P76 |

Amartizaticn amounted to B350 million in 2022 and P22.3 millien i 2021 and 20000 In 2021 the
Gireup recognized P12.8 million impainment loss on APEC student relatbnship becasae the
remainiig students from the time of the merger in 2009 significantly declise as of December 11, 2031
due tin the impagt of coronavims pandemic.

Cuxh and Cash Equivalenis

This gocount comasts ol

Mz 2021
Cach oo hand #3100 P2, 3]
Cash in hanks (Mate 15) 44,228 ddili BA S
Cash equivalents (Mot 15) L414,100 L1525

Pl.941 A28 P1.a04,129

Cash in honka com invderest ot the prevailing hank deposit mies. Cash equivadonts hove b with
viirying periods of up o three months depending on 1lse isimedinte cash requirements of the Group
and varn interest al the prevailing shar-tenm invesiment rates,

Interest inenme from cast in banks and cash equivalents ameunted g0 #20,0 million, P6.0 million @
BI0.7 million in 2002, 2021 and 2020, respectively (Mole 22).



B Meceivaliles

This acoount consisis of

022 e L |
Tuition nod other fess FE 429 TE] Bl 2446580
Adbviances o officers and ermplovecs I9.ETH 21 530
{hhers i 2. R Sd. ke
1.511,617 1,322,741
Albrwnnee Tor ECL (340 AR0) (255 B
FLIT6,21K P03z K5

Turtion il bt Toes pertain fo tition and otlser malriculotion fees whicl are msrmally colleceed ot
end of every-schaol term belore the stismlents can proceed to ihe next 1em,  This il v s
recitvable from Deparimen of Educagion {DepEd) arfiounting g FIEER iilton nsd P 1402 milHon
us at Dhocember 31, 2032 and 2021, respectively, arising from the Senior High School (51151 Voucher
Pragmm whenein qualified SHS siadents nre given oxsisinnce on naition fees. These reccivables are
naailerest-beoring and ore genernlly collectible within one YR

The changes m allowsnee for ECL gz ot December 1] follow:
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9. Prepaid Expenses and Other Carrent Assets
L | i)

Prepaid expenses Plad 406 Fl1az032
Shori-lerm investments 161,153 dal 242
W 1,352 T.198
Books myveEntones i, 1) SAE5
Cifice supplics R E A0
Chbhers 119,952 P399

Faiha, 237 kgl B |
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Prepaid expenses mainly include prepaymients for membenship foes, subscriptiong, and tsumnee,
among odhers

Shori-lerm invesiments ¢am intensst ot the provailing investment fates amd hive malirily of less thas
one year, These include invesimens held for government and private entities for the piitpase of
iendertaking secio-coonomic studies and development projects arverting 4o P19 million and
PR million s of December 31, 2022 aml 2021, respeciively.

Qfhers relale to rent depasits and oiber supplies. This alse Inchindes prsmacils made oa cortain claime
that nre wnder pratest (Mate 31),

Propurty and Equipment

The rollforwand analysis of thig aceomt Tollows:
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Comstristion in progress as ot December 31, 221 mainly includes ihe peneral cost of constnoction of
MESES new sehoud building in Makatl City anif other direct costs which wis comgeted in 2022

(Mate 11

e lamd ooud relabed improviernents owned by MOMI with carrving value of #2.385.% million and

P2.382.0 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, wene wsed 1o secure the long-lerm
b of MOMI 0s disclosed (6 Mo 17
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The Growp performed on impainmens testing of the property and equipment and dght-of-use assets of

APEC in which further disclosires are made m Note 31,

. Land o1 Revolwed Ao is

This aceaunt, clissified as prapeny and equdpment (see Node 100, consists of:

oz i 2|
Land =1 cos 4 I, Fik B, D 001
Provvision for impasrment:
Balonce 3t beginning of year - (15,763}
Reversal during the year charged o
profit or logs - 15,7053
Balance o8 end of year - ~
Revalumion merement o land:
Balance at beginning of vear 2,343,931y 2 16R.620
Chunpe in revalwabion incosmend 1,117 567 25 510
Ralance a1 eml of venr 3,511,504 385 934
#1578 412 PG ), B S

Lanal at revaluel amounts consists of pwner-occupied praperty wherein the selool buildsiges ond

wther Cacelides mre Toca el

These lnnd were appeaised by SEC-gepredited mdepesdent firms of appraizers 1o determing the

revalued nrmoints se ot December 31, MY and 3021,

Thie valustiom was derived through the morker spproach based sipea prces

puntel i ctial imarket

tmassctiong. This spprosch relies on the comparison of recent saly transactions vr offerings of
simyi lir propertes wheh hove acoured and'or edTered wiih close proximuiny 1o ihe subsject propertics,
ljustedd bawed o cerain elensents of comparison (e.g. Joealion. size and road fromogs)

The parcels of band were vaboed in terms of their highest and best ise which s eategonzed snder

Level 3 of the fair vahie lsieranchy,

Presienied below are the land Iogition aid the ranges of the land fiir vilue per square ineter based on

ihe appraisal reports.
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Adjustinent factors anising from externnl and intermal faeters (i, lecation, siie and Toad frontaue)
affecting the subject properies as compared 1o the market listimg of compomble properties, ranse
froms -20% be + 3% in 2027 and frarm -25% 1o +20% in 2021

Significant mereases {decreases) in exlimated price per square meter woukl result moa significantly
higher {lower} fair value of the land.

I 2019, the Group recorded provision for impairment in vabie of B2ED million of & parcel of
charged 1o profil or loss as there was ao previous revaluation incremei recopnized on said bl
Based on the 2021 and 2020 appraisal of the same parcel of land, ihere wis an increase i vohie fhot
resbibted 10 tle reversal of e previously recognized impriment loss imoumg to B A malliao in
2021 and #5 .2 million in 3020, The incrense was credited to prafit of loss as “Other income {charge)
= net™ i the 2021 and 2020 sitement of comprehensive income.

In December 2020, MESE sold its investment in s subsdinry, San Lovenee Rulz nvestment
Hokdings and Services lnc., 1o HT for B1LS466 million and peabed CGT of P126.K million on the gain
on sabe. The Group freated the sake of investment as disposal of the el assets of the subsidiary which
maindy represents the tand ¢lassified as property amd equipment, As the land Jg cared o revalusd
anyount, prisd 10 the sale. the Group recorded revalustion increment of PISS,T million (gross of tax)
te reflect the and’s fair valoe of B1,046.6 million, which is equivalend fo the selling price of snid

fand, The revaluation increraent (net of tax) of #1320 millson was credifed o 001 Upen sate of the
sahsidiary in 2020, the Group recorded the following:

*  Reversal thmagh OCH of the related defemed tux labiliy on revahmbon dicrement of suhsidiary’s
land smounting to 2738 miltio;

*  Recognition of CUT on the sile of the subsidiary through OC] pmounting e #1268 million,
which s netted agninst Revensal of defisrred tx linbility on nevaluation incroment of band sald
thiriugh sube afsubsadiory in the consolidalad statement of comprehensive Income: and

*  Transfer of vevaluntion increment of ihe subsidinry's land scewmilated in sguity {net of tmx)
amounting o FTESS milHon b retained earnings.,

Since the land of the sold subsidinry was cairhed al revalued smount, in accordance with the Group®s
secounting policy. gainor boss op sale will not recyiele 1o profit or loss but the cormesponding
revluation ingrement in equity was transferred direcily @ retained sarmings.

. CenapwEll

The goadwill recagnized i the eonsolidated statement of fenancial position amounting Lo
F131.3 million as al December 31, 2022 and 2021 periains to the #1375 mellian goodwill from
acquisition of MESL in 1999 and #1335 million goodwill from the 2009 acguisition of AEI
sabidiaTies daee. Note B

The Giraup performed ampainment esting on geodwill ansing from acquisition of MEST wherein
MESE was considered us the CGLL No impairment testing was done o0 the B13.5 million goodwill s
the Gitvup assessed i1 25 not material o the consolidated financial statements. In 2022, 3021 and
2020, minagoment axssessed that ma impaiiment loss shoald be recopnized,



